IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2009- CA- 00833

CHRISTOPHER PAUL SEGHINI

VS.

KRISTY LEE SULLIVAN SEGHINI

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral Argument Not Requested

Chris D. Hennis (MSB # Mark K. Tullos (MSB P.O. Box 505 Raleigh, Mississippi 39153 (601) 782-4587

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2009- CA- 00833

CHRISTOPHER PAUL SEGHINI

VS.

KRISTY LEE SULLIVAN SEGHINI

Certificate of Interested Persons

Statement Of The Issues

The issues are:

1. Whether the chancery court committed manifest error in failing to make specific findings of fact on the record before making its award of child support, its division of marital property and its award of alimony.

2. Whether the chancery court committed manifest error in failing to conduct an on the record analysis of the factors set forth in *Ferguson* and in its failure to consider the money derived from the foreclosure sale of the marital home as marital property.

3. Whether the chancery court erred in its award of permanent periodic alimony and whether the court below properly applied the factors set forth in *Armstrong*.

4. Whether the chancery court's automatic increase in child support was an improper anticipatory modification or an improper escalation clause.

5. Whether the chancery court abused its discretion in denying Chris relief from the judgment under Rule 60(b)(1).

6. Whether the chancery court committed manifest error by finding Chris in contempt of court and ordering him incarcerated.

Statement Of The Case

1. Nature Of The Case.

This is a divorce case involving Kristy Lee Sullivan Seghini and Christopher Paul Seghini. Kristy and Chris were married on February 19, 2000. They resided in Simpson County, Mississippi, until their separation at the end of May 2007 in Simpson County. During the course of their marriage they had two sons, Alexander Mason Seghini and Emerson Chandler Seghini, who were seven and two years of age, respectively, at the time the trial was held in this case.

During their marriage, Chris was self-employed as a trim carpenter which was his primary source of income and his primary vocation. Chris also worked as a police officer for the Town of Mendenhall for a period of time. As a police officer, Chris worked under Kristy's father, who was the Chief of Police for the Town of Mendenhall during that period. Kristy held various jobs during the marriage, which included working at a bank and a daycare, before becoming a nurse. (Tr. at 50-51).

At the trial, Chris admitted to committing adultery during the marriage and the Court rightly granted Kristy a divorce based on Chris' uncondoned adultery.

2. Course Of The Proceedings.

On August 17, 2007, Kristy filed a Complaint for Divorce against Chris in the Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi. Kristy alleged as grounds for divorce, Chris's uncondoned adultery. On January 28, 2008, the parties entered into an Agreed Temporary Order which awarded Kristy temporary custody of the children with Chris having visitation every other weekend. Chris agreed to pay Kristy \$484.00 per month as temporary child support. The order also awarded Kristy temporary use and possession of the marital home with Chris being responsible for paying Kristy an additional sum of \$516.00 for the monthly mortgage note and

other incidental bills.

At the trial of this case, Chris testified that he was not sure what his monthly income was and that he was estimating on his 8.05 financial statement based on past years tax returns. (Tr. at 18).

The court below, at the close of proceedings, granted Kristy a divorce on the grounds of Chris' uncondoned adultery. The court also awarded Kristy the complete care, custody and control of the two minor children and granted Chris standard visitation with the children. The court further ordered Chris to pay \$500.00 per month as child support to Kristy and to pay her vehicle note until her vehicle was paid in full, and at such time, his child support would increase to \$650.00 per month.

Chris was ordered to pay all the marital debt with the exception of his life insurance policy and a small indebtedness to PriorityOne Bank which Kristy was ordered to pay. The court also ordered Chris to pay Kristy \$500.00 per month as permanent periodic alimony.

Chris timely filed his post trial motions requesting a new trial, to reopen the record to receive new evidence and a Rule 60(b) motion alleging that Kristy had made material misrepresentations to the court regarding the marital home and the supposed foreclosure that had taken place. Kristy filed an Answer and Counter-Complaint for Contempt in response to Chris' post trial motions.

Chris's post trial motions and Rule 60(b)(1) motion were denied. At the contempt hearing, Chris was found to be in contempt of the court's divorce decree in the amount of \$5,695.09 and was given twenty-four hours to pay that amount before being incarcerated. Chris was also ordered to pay Kristy \$3,000.00 in attorney's fees for the contempt hearing.

3. Disposition In The Court Below.

The trial court granted Kristy a divorce based on Chris' uncondoned adultery during the course of the marriage. The trial court was correct in granting the divorce on this grounds and Chris does not wish to have this part of the trial court's judgment examined because he has since remarried.

The trial court did not make a specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding Chris's monthly adjusted gross income or how it reached its figures regarding its financial awards. That was error.

The trial court awarded Kristy \$500.00 per month permanent alimony. (Tr. at 112-113). That was error.

The trial court awarded Kristy \$500.00 per month as child support to be increased to \$650.00 per month once Chris paid off Kristy's vehicle note. The chancellor ordered this automatic increase without making any specific findings of fact or conclusions of law to support the automatic increase in child support. (Tr. at 109 & 111). That was error.

The Court below failed to consider the excess bid that was made on the marital home when it was foreclosed on by Kristy's grandfather. The proceeds of the excess bid should have been considered marital property but was not reflected on Kristy's 8.05 financial statement. (Tr. at 112). That also was error.

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant Chris's Rule 60(b) motion for Kristy's material misrepresentations and fraud on the court regarding her testimony about the status of the marital home during the trial. (Tr. at 67-69, 86, 88 & 104). That also was error.

The court below found Chris in contempt for failure to meet his obligations under the Court's Final Judgment of Divorce. That was error.

The court ordered Chris to be incarcerated in the Simpson County jail until such time as he purged himself of contempt. The chancellor only allowed Chris a period of twenty-four hours to purge his contempt before ordering him to report to the custody of the Simpson County Sheriff. That also was error. This appeal followed.

4. Statement Of The Facts.

Kristy Lee Sullivan Seghini and Christopher Paul Seghini were married on February 19, 2000. They resided in Simpson County, Mississippi, until their final separation from each other at the end of May 2007, in Simpson County. During the course of their marriage they had two sons, Alexander Mason Seghini and Emerson Chandler Seghini, who were seven and two years of age, respectively, at the time of trial.

During their marriage, Chris was primarily self-employed as trim carpenter which was his primary source of income and his primary vocation. Chris also worked as a police officer for the Town of Mendenhall for a period of time. As a police officer, Chris worked under Kristy's father, who was then the Chief of Police for the Town of Mendenhall. Kristy held various jobs during the marriage, including working at a bank and a daycare, before becoming a nurse. (Tr. at 50-51).

At the trial, Chris admitted to committing adultery during the marriage and the Court granted Kristy a divorce based on Chris' uncondoned adultery.

Summary of the Argument

During the course of the trial, Chris Seghini testified that he did not know what he made each month and that he had completed his 8.05 financial statement using past years income tax returns as a guide to estimate his current monthly income at \$3,200.00. The court below said that

unless someone presented more proof of what his income actually was that it would have to pull a figure out of the air.

The trial court was required to make findings of fact regarding what it determined Mr. Seghini's adjusted monthly gross income was when it ordered Mr. Seghini to pay child support, alimony and the bulk of the other marital debt. The failure of the chancery court to state its determination of Chris's adjusted monthly gross income affects each and every aspect of the financial awards made in this case. The Court must conclude that the trial court committed manifest error by not making findings of fact on the record regarding Mr. Seghini's monthly adjusted gross income.

The trial court failed to make any findings of fact related to the factors set forth in *Ferguson* when making its equitable division of marital property and debt. The failure to make such on the record findings of fact was manifest error, affecting not only the division of marital property, but also the court's award of permanent periodic alimony.

The court below wrongly based its alimony award partly on the material misrepresentations made by Kristy Seghini during her testimony while testifying regarding the marital home and her living arraignments. The Court must conclude that the material misrepresentations made by Kristy influenced the court below's decision based on the trial court's clear reliance on her representations when issuing its judgment.

The court below erred in not taking into consideration the excess bid made by Kristy's grandfather on the marital home at the foreclosure sale. The court deflected any argument regarding the foreclosure sale and the excess bid which was made on the home, and refused to consider what happened to the monies paid in excess of the principal owing on the mortgage at

i

the time of the foreclosure. Clearly, this \$27,907.00 (as reflected on Kristy's 8.05) should have been considered by the trial court when making its financial awards in this case.

The facts presented at trial do not support the chancellor's award of permanent periodic alimony in this case. The chancellor made only a cursory on the record findings of fact regarding some of the factors set forth in *Armstrong* to support its award of alimony. The facts developed during the trial do not support the alimony award and are not sufficient for this Court to conduct an independent review of the chancellor's decision.

Chris was ordered to pay Kristy' monthly vehicle note until the debt was retired. Once Kristy's vehicle was paid for, Chris was ordered to increase his monthly child support payment from \$500.00 per month to \$650.00 per month. There was no findings of fact offered by the court to support a future substantial and material change in circumstances. Therefore, this automatic increase is an anticipatory modification not supported by on the record findings of fact by the chancellor. Alternatively, the trial court was attempting to insert an escalation clause into its judgment. This was also improper as there was no on the record discussion and findings of fact by the court regarding the factors which an escalation clause must be related to.

At the hearing of Kristy's Counter-Petition For Contempt filed in response to Chris's post trial motions, Chris was found to be in contempt of court and given twenty-four hours to purge his contempt or be incarcerated.

Chris testified at the contempt hearing that he had only earned approximately \$1,600.00 per month from January 1, 2009 through April 30, 2009 when the contempt hearing took place. His amended 2008 Federal Income Tax Returns supported his testimony regarding what he averaged per month as income from his employment. As the testimony clearly proved, Chris's

monthly obligations under the court's Final Judgment of Divorce exceeded his monthly bring home income, and thus, the trial court erred in finding Chris in wilful contempt of the Court's judgment.

Chris was given until 5:00 p.m. the day after the contempt hearing to pay Kristy the money for which he was found owing and for which he was in contempt of court. If Chris failed to purge his contempt by 5:00 p.m. the next evening, he was to report to the custody of the Simpson County Sheriff until such time as he purged himself of his contempt. Chris, being unable to purge his contempt, reported to the Simpson County Sheriff at 5:00 p.m. the next evening. He remained incarcerated for contempt for approximately forty days before posting an appearance bond.

The trial court committed manifest error and abused its discretion in ordering that Chris be incarcerated unless he paid the full amount of which he was found to be in contempt of court. The evidence and testimony was clear and convincing that Chris did not have sufficient income to pay the arreage and there was no evidence or testimony illicited during the contempt hearing proving that Chris had savings or assets sufficient to pay the arrearage in full. Also, there was no evidence put forth at the contempt hearing to disprove what Chris claimed to be his monthly income. Thus, the Court erred in ordering Chris to be incarcerated for contempt.

Argument

The court below was required to make specific findings of fact regarding Chris Seghini's income, without which, this Court cannot possibly determine whether the award of child support, alimony, and the division of property were supported by the credible evidence offered at the trial.

I. The Chancery Court Erred As A Matter Of Law In its Failure To Make Specific Findings Of Fact As To Chris Seghini's Income Before Making An Award Of Child Support, Periodic Alimony, And A Division Of Property And Debt.

A. Mississippi Code Annotated Section 43-19-101(3)(a)-(b) Requires A Trial Court To First Determine A Payor's Adjusted Gross Income Before Awarding Child Support.

The trial court erred in not making specific findings of fact regarding the methodology it used in determining Chris Seghini's adjusted gross income. In fact, the record is silent as to what the trial court found Chris's adjusted gross income to be. Miss. Code Ann. Section 43-19-101(3)(a)-(b) (Rev. 2004) sets forth the proper method to be used by chancellors in determining a non-custodial parent's gross income. It also sets forth certain mandatory deductions which the chancellor must make to arrive at the payor's adjusted gross income. *Id.* In *Lee v. Stewart ex rel. Summerville*, 724 So. 2d 1093, 1097 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998), the Court held that because a chancellor failed to subtract certain mandatory deductions from a non-custodial parent's gross income, it was appropriate to reverse the child support award and remand to the chancery court for a recalculation of the child support award.

In Gray v. Gray, 745 So. 2d 234, 237, (Miss. 1999), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that without the benefit of a chancellor's findings of fact, it cannot be determined whether or not the statutory guidelines were followed. The Court also noted that the decree did not give proof of financial ability to the award nor did the court make findings with regards to the needs of the children. *Id.* In this case, there is no evidence that the chancellor made any of the mandatory deductions from Chris' gross income. In fact, the record is absent of any findings of fact as to what Chris's gross income or adjusted gross income were at the time of trial. The trial court made reference to the fact that it would "pull a figure out of the air" if sufficient proof were not presented to the Court, however, the court failed to state on the record its findings of fact regarding what figure it pulled out of the air for Chris's income. (Tr. at 62). For the purposes of appellate review, it is imperative that a chancellor state on the record his findings of fact regarding a payor's monthly adjusted gross income.

It could be assumed that with the trial court's initial child support award of \$500.00 per month for two children that the court found Chris's adjusted gross income to be \$2,500.00 per month. This, of course, would not support the court's award of alimony and ordering Chris to pay Kristy's \$642.00 per month vehicle note and all the other marital debt with the exception of one small credit card bill. Such a finding would leave Chris destitute and in a perpetual state of contempt, as it has. The trial court did state at the hearing of Chris's post trial motions that it "came up with a figure based on the statutory guidelines." (Tr. at 131; R.E. 4). Accordingly, it can only be assumed that the trial court found Chris's monthly adjusted gross income to be \$2,500.00 per month.

The evidence offered by Chris to prove his income was his 2003, 2004 and 2005 income tax returns, Forms 1099-Misc for 2006, as well as, his 8.05 financial statement. (RE. 8 & 9). Admittedly, Chris testified that he made more income than was actually reflected on his 8.05 at trial, however, Chris did attempt to testify that the figures reflected on his 8.05 were estimates because his 2007 tax returns had not been filed yet and it was not time to file his 2008 income tax returns. (Tr. at 53) Regardless of his stating that he was not sure what his monthly income was or

that he made more than was reflected on his 8.05, the best evidence offered was his past income tax records and his 2006 1099's.

Chris testified that he did make more money than was listed on his 8.05, however, he also testified that he had employees to pay out of his gross earnings. (Tr. at 44). Chris further testified that at various times he had between five and ten employees that he had to pay. (Tr. at 44). Even Kristy admitted that Chris had to pay employees from his gross earnings. (Tr. at 85). Kristy testified repeatedly that Chris averaged earning \$1,000.00 per week. (Tr. at 61 & 63). The fact that the court below made no findings of fact regarding Chris's income before making an award of child support was clearly an abuse of the trial court's discretion and was manifestly wrong.

The record essentially makes it impossible for this Court to review the trial court's findings of fact as to Chris's adjusted gross income. Therefore, it is impossible for this Court to determine whether the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard, abused his discretion or was manifestly wrong. The chancellors failure to make the required findings of fact requires this Court to vacate the trial court's award of child support and remand this matter back to the Chancery Court of Simpson County to make specific findings as to Chris's income and expenses.

B. The Chancery Court Erred As A Matter Of Law In Its Failure To Conduct A Proper *Ferguson* Analysis And Committed Manifest Error In Its Failure To Properly Consider, As Marital Property, The Money Derived From The Excess Bid Received On The Marital Home At The Foreclosure Sale.

The failure of the chancery court to make an on the record analysis of the *Ferguson* guidelines to support its division of marital assets is plain error. The Mississippi Supreme Court has directed chancellors to evaluate the division of marital assets by the guidelines set forth in *Ferguson* and to support their decisions with findings of fact and conclusions of law for the purposes of appellate review. *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So. 2d 921, 928 (Miss. 1994).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has further held that it "cannot determine whether the chancellor abused his discretion until he provides a record of his determination of both parties' nonmarital assets, of his equitable distribution in light of each parties' nonmarital property, guided by the *Ferguson* factors, and if necessary to do equity, of any award of alimony." *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So. 2d 1281, 1287 (Miss. 1994). Also, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that "assets so acquired or accumulated during the course of the marriage are marital assets and are subject to an equitable distribution by the chancellor. *McLaurin v. McLaurin*, 853 So. 2d 1279, 1285-1286, (Miss.Ct.App.2003); (citing *Flechas v. Flechas*, 791 So. 2d 295, 299 (Miss.Ct.App.2001)).

Clearly, the chancellor committed manifest error in not conducting an on the record analysis of the factors set forth in *Ferguson*. The record is eerily silent as to the chancellor's findings of fact regarding the methodology he used in making an equitable distribution of marital assets and debt in this case. (Tr. at 111-112; R.E. 2). Without such an on the record finding of facts and discussion of the factors set forth in *Ferguson*, appellate review of the division of marital property and debt made by the chancellor is impossible. Unfortunately, not only is appellate review of the property division impossible, but also, appellate review is further frustrated regarding the periodic alimony awarded by the chancellor in this case.

Finally, the court committed manifest error in failing to consider the excess money paid for the marital home at the foreclosure sale by Kristy's grandfather, Mr. Jimmy Charles Sullivan. The \$27,907.00 excess bid was marital property subject to an equitable distribution by the chancellor. The deed of trust from Chris and Kristy to Mr. Sullivan was dated May 2, 2001, and secured a promissory note having a principal balance of \$44,000.00. (R.E. 10). The trustee's deed from William H. Smith, III, trustee under the deed of trust, in favor of Mr. Jimmy Charles Sullivan was dated August 17, 2007, and stated that Mr. Sullivan was the highest and best bidder

at the foreclosure sale, submitting a bid of \$50,000.00. (R.E. 10). Kristy's 8.05 financial statement entered into evidence at the trial listed the mortgage balance owing on the home at the time of trial as \$22,093.00, giving Chris and Kristy \$27,907.00 in equity in the home based on a value of \$50,000.00. (R.E. 11).

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