IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

· . . .

CHRISTOPHER PAUL SEGHINI

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-00833

KRISTY LEE SULLIVAN SEGHINI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE KRISTY LEE SULLIVAN SEGHINI

ON APPEAL FOR THE CHANCERY COURT OF SIMPSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Oral Argument Not Requested

TERRELL STUBBS Attorney at Law THE STUBBS LAW FIRM 120 W. Court Avenue P.O. Box 157 Mendenhall, MS 39114 601-847-4811 MB

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHRISTOPHER PAUL SEGHINI

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-00833

KRISTY LEE SULLIVAN SEGHINI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court had sufficient facts before it to decide all issues. Further the trial court was correct in that Christopher was never truthful about his income at any time not even at the post trial motion hearings on April 13th, 2009 and April 30th, 2009. Christopher did not in his post trial motion or at any other time raise the issue with the Trial Judge that the Chancellor should have made a findings of fact on the record.

Since the parties only possessed a few items of personal property, there was no necessity for the trial judge to conduct a *Ferguson* analysis. All personal property was marital and this was never disputed by either party. Further at no time did Christopher raise the issue of the Court failing to conduct a *Ferguson* analysis at trial or during his Motion for Reconsideration, New Trial, Or in the Alternative, Rule 60(b)(1) Motion for Relief from Judgment.

The Chancellor considered the *Armstrong* factors even stating in his opinion that he had done so and there were more than enough facts in the record to support the Judge's ruling in awarding Kristy periodic alimony of \$500.00 per month.

The trial court's order directed child support be increased from \$500.00 per month to \$650.00 per month upon payment in full of the note on Kristy's Tahoe vehicle. Child support on Christopher's minimum adjusted gross income, as provided by Kristy, of \$52,000.00 a year would have been, based on the statutory guidelines, 20% of \$50,000.00, or \$833.33 per month. Kristy did not receive full child support and it was not and in no way could be considered an anticipatory modification or an improper escalation clause. This simply was a benefit given to Christopher.

Christopher offered virtually no evidence to support his Rule 60(b)(1)Motion for Relief from the Final Judgment of the trial court and the trial judge was correct in denying his motion.(R.E. 55)

At the contempt hearing held on April 30th, 2009 Christopher admitted he was in contempt of court for failing to pay virtually any of the amounts provided under the Final Judgment of Divorce to Kristy and the trial court was therefore correct in holding him in contempt. The court even gave Christopher another opportunity to correct this problem by allowing Christopher until 5:00 p.m. the following day on May 1st, 2009 to pay. He paid nothing and was properly incarcerated, but later released on bond.(R.E. 60, 61)

ARGUMENT

I. The Chancery Court was correct in its division of marital property, debts and its award of child support and alimony.

Page 10 of 21

Christopher contends Section 43-19-101 (3)(a)(b) requires the trial court to first determine Christopher's adjusted gross income before awarding child support and that the trial judge failed to do this. The Chancellor did not fail to set Christopher's adjusted gross income. Kristy testified specifically that Christopher brought home from \$1,000.00 to \$2,500.00 per week and that she had completed tax returns and the income in previous years had been \$86,000.00 to \$96,000.00 per year.(T.61) The record, however, is certainly void of any accurate or truthful information from Christopher as to what his adjusted gross income was, but that is no one's fault but Christopher's.

Christopher cites *Lee v. Stewart ex rel. Summerville*, 724 So.2d 1093, 1097(Miss. Ct. App 1998) in support of this part of his argument. In *Lee* the Chancellor failed to deduct certain mandatory deductions from the non-custodial parent's gross income. This simply is not the case here. There was more than adequate testimony and facts in the record to clearly show what Christopher's adjusted gross income was. It just was not provided by Christopher at any time.

Further in support of this part of Christopher's argument he cites *Gray v*. *Gray*, 745 So.2d 234, 237 (Miss. 1999) contending that since there were no findings of fact it cannot be determined if the Chancellor followed the statutory guidelines. There was sufficient evidence in the record for the Trial Judge to set child support and alimony. More on point is the case of *Tedford v. Dempsey*, which is cited later in Christopher's brief, wherein the Supreme Court of Mississippi stated as follows:

To the extent we are called upon to review findings of fact made by the Chancellor we are constrained by familiar rules. If we find substantial evidence supporting the Chancellor's fact findings, they are beyond our power to disturb. And with respect to issues of fact where the Chancellor made no specific finding, we proceed on the assumption that the Chancellor resolved all such fact issues in favor of Appellee or at least in a manner consistent with the Decree. Again if there is substantial evidence under girding such a presumed finding we will not disturb it. *Tedford v. Dempsey*, 437 So.2d 410, 417 (Miss. 1983)

Any problems with Christopher's income in this matter was no one's fault but Christopher's. He failed to provide truthful income information at the divorce hearing and he failed when allowed a second chance to provide truthful or accurate income information at the post trial motion hearings.

II. The Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi was not in error in not conducting an on the record analysis of factors set forth in *Ferguson* since the parties owned very limited personal property and there was virtually no dispute as to whether the

property was marital or non-marital and there were no funds derived from the foreclosure sale of the former marital dwelling.

There was absolutely no dispute as to what property was marital or nonmarital. It was never even discussed at the trial or during post trial motion hearings by Christopher's counsel or Kristy's counsel. Christopher in support of his argument that the court erred in this regard cites *Henderson v. Henderson*, 703 So.2d 262 (Miss. 1997). This case is simply not on point. If there are sufficient facts in the record to support the Chancellor's decision then the Chancellor's decision will be upheld. *Dorsey v. Dorsey*, 972 So.2d 48 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)

There was never any dispute as to division of assets and this court can clearly see that from the transcript. The trial judge gave the parties that personal property which they already had in their possession. A case more on point is the case of *Tritle v. Tritle*, 956 So.2d 369, 379, 380 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In *Tritle* the court found the Chancellor did consider, as shown by the record, equitable distribution prior to an award of alimony.

Christopher continues to argue that there was some equity paid on the former marital dwelling at foreclosure. This is a disingenuous argument at best since all of this was admitted into the record at the conclusion of the divorce trial and no objection was made by Christopher or his attorney. It is a moot point.

III. The trial court was correct in its award of permanent periodic alimony to Appellee and properly considered the *Armstrong* factors.

Christopher cites Armstrong v. Armstrong in support of his argument that the court failed to apply the Armstrong factors in setting alimony. Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 1993)

The Trial Judge stated he had reviewed the *Armstrong* factors concerning alimony. After that, the Chancellor stated he looked at the income and expenses of the parties and other factors as stated in the record.(T. 112)

Also Christopher admitted adultery and even admitted he was living with his girlfriend at the time of divorce. All of this had an adverse impact on the harmony and stability of the marriage. *Sullivan v. Sullivan*, 990 So.2d 783 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)

Most of the cases this court has reversed on a Chancellor's lack of findings of fact on award of alimony have been where the record was virtually void of any facts or evidence to support the Chancellor's decision. There were more than sufficient facts in the record and little dispute as to those facts to support an award of alimony. Under *Ferguson* this court has stated the Chancellor has considerable latitude in adjusting his awards to do equity. *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 927 (Miss. 1994); and *Jones v. Jones*, 532 So.2d 574, 580 (Miss. 1988) The obligation of the Chancellor is not to follow some precise formula as to each individual component of asset distribution, alimony and other support but to divide equitably between the spouses. *Welch v. Welch*, 755 So.2d 6, 10 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) This was what was done in the case at hand. Also see *Tritle v. Tritle*, 956 So.2d 369, 379, 380 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)

IV. The Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi did not err in providing for an increase in child support to be paid by Apellant once he had completed paying the debt on Appellee's vehicle.

Christopher argues the trial court's decision concerning the child support increase was some type of modification or improper escalation clause. It certainly was not. Based on the testimony and evidence at the trial court level, child support should have been at least \$833.33 per month, which would represent 20% of Christopher's adjusted gross income of \$50,000.00 per year. If anyone got a break in payment of child support it was Christopher.

The increase in child support required in the Final Judgment of Divorce was clear, definite and without doubt. The Chancellor instead of awarding \$833.33 in child support to Kristy allowed Christopher to pay only \$500.00 per month in child support until the debt on Kristy's Tahoe had been paid and then his child support increased to \$650.00 per month. However the court in setting child support looked at the totality of the circumstances and considered all the other obligations of Christopher to Kristy. It promoted judicial economy and expediency for the court to make this provision. Otherwise the parties would have had to hire lawyers and come back to court to make adjustment to child support after the debt on the Tahoe was paid.

Under Anderson v. Watkins, 208 So.2d 573, 575 (Miss. 1968) when substantial evidence supporting the Chancellor's fact findings are present, they are beyond the power of the Appellate Court to disturb. Also it should be pointed out that none of this was argued at the post trial motion of Christopher.

Christopher cites *Tedford v. Dempsey*, 437 So.2d 410 (Miss. 1983) in support of his argument that the child support increase was an improper escalation clause. This is not an escalation clause. For sake of argument, if it should be construed as an escalation clause, there is no doubt it is tied to a certain event and is definite as is required in *Gillespie v. Gillespie*, 594 So.2d 620.

As is stated in Tedford v. Dempsey where the Chancellor made no specific findings of fact, the Appellant Court proceeds on the assumption the trial judge settled all factual issues in favor of Appellee and in a manner consistent with the Final Judgment of Divorce. *Tedford v. Dempsey*, 437 So.2d 410, 417 (Miss. 1983)

V. The Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi was correct in denying Appellant's request for relief under Rule 60(B)(1).

Again Christopher attempts to deflect any blame in his appeal to Kristy by saying what Kristy said about the former marital home was a misrepresentation. Nothing could be further from the truth.

At the divorce hearing in Raleigh, Mississippi on August 27th, 2008, the Chancellor came back to the bench, after having a conference in chambers with the attorney for Christopher and the attorney for Kristy, and dictated into the record that the home had been foreclosed on and made a composite exhibit of the Quitclaim Deed, Trustee's Deed, and Deed of Trust.(T. 107, 108). Apparently counsel for Christopher just refuses to recollect what happened at trial.

Christopher cites *Williamson v. Williamson*, 964 So.2d 524, 528 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) and *Stringfellow v. Stringfellow*, 451 So.2d 219, 221, 222 (Miss. 1984) in support of this phase of his argument. Even if it were true Kristy misrepresented some fact in order to influence the decision of the fact finder, which is denied by Kristy, it must be shown that the finder of fact relied on such misrepresentation in its decision. Clearly this did not happen. The Chancellor as well as the parties and the attorneys' knew exactly what had happened to the marital dwelling and Christopher never filed any proceeding to contest that foreclosure.(T. 119) Also Christopher contends there must have been some excess money Kristy received after the foreclosure. This is just inconceivable. No one who had a valid mortgage on the house would pay the home owner \$27,907.00 to foreclose if there was still existing unpaid debt.

Rule 60 (b) motions are left to the sound discretion of the trial court as long as such discretion is not abused. *Clarke .v Burke*, 570 F.2d 824 (5th Circuit 1978). Christopher's Rule 60 (b)(1) was nothing more than a futile attempt by Christopher to relitigate the case. *Mastini v. Amerian Telephone and Telegraph Co.*, 369 F.2d 378 (2nd Circuit 1966)

VI. The Chancery Court of Simpson County, Mississippi was not in error in holding Appellant in contempt and ordering that if he failed to pay within approximately twenty-four (24) hours, he would be incarcerated.

At the hearing on Kristy's Petition for Contempt Christopher was given the opportunity to amend his Answer and he added defenses he had not filed originally.

Basically Christopher argues here that he should not be held in contempt because he had an inability to pay any of the obligations under the Final Judgment of Divorce. The burden was on Christopher to prove his inability to pay. There was absolutely no fraud or misrepresentation by Kristy. Christopher presented at this hearing an amended tax return that was still incomplete.(T.200-205) Christopher did not even come close to meeting his burden of proof.

Christopher should not be rewarded for failing again to be forthcoming and truthful with the trial court. The Chancellor after finding Christopher in contempt, gave him twenty-four (24) hours to pay, but he refused to make any payment whatsoever and turned himself in to the Sheriff to be incarcerated.(T. 220, 223) He was later released on bond without having paid one cent to Kristy.(R.E. 60, 61)

CONCLUSION

Christopher would have this court turn a blind eye to what was entered into the record, without objection, concerning the parties' former marital home.

Further, Christopher has apparently deluded himself into believing any problem in determining his income and ultimately child support was Kristy's fault or the Chancellor's fault, but certainly not Christopher's fault.

Throughout his brief Christopher, on most of his issues, complains the Trial Court failed to make an on the record findings of fact. But at no time did Christopher ask for an on the record findings of fact. There was more than sufficient evidence in the record for the Chancellor to decide issues even without much assistance at all from Christopher.

When it comes to Christopher's 60(b)(1) Motion, he falls flat on his face. Christopher's attorney even admitted Christopher had lied at trial about his income and other matters.

At the hearing on Kristy's Petition for Citation for Contempt the proof was clear that Christopher had failed to pay Kristy any amounts whatsoever that were due under Final Judgment of Divorce. Finally Christopher admitted even the copy of his alleged amended tax return was not accurate.

In light of all the above, Christopher certainly should not expect this court to grant him any relief. This court should affirm the Chancellor's decision in this case.